

RÉPUBLIQUE ALGÉRIENNE DÉMOCRATIQUE ET POPULAIRE Ministère de L'enseignement Supérieur et de la Recherche Scientifique UNIVERSITÉ IBN KHALDOUN TIARET FACULTÉ DE MATHÉMATIQUES ET DE L'INFORMATIQUES Département de Mathématiques



MÉMOIRE MASTER

Présenter en vue de l'obtention du diplôme de master

Spécialité:

«Mathematiques »

Option:

«AFED et AFA»

Présenté Par:

Étudiant KADDA Meriem et Étudiant GACEM Samia

Sous L'intitulé:

Some Special Techniques for Calculating Definite Integrals

Soutenu publiquement le 20 / 06/ 2023 à Tiaret devant le jury composé de :

Mr BENAISSA Abedelmelk Grade Université MCB Président
Mr ELKHIRI Laid Grade Université MCB Encadreur
Mr BENYOUSSE Abedelmelek Grade Université MCB Examinateur

Année universitaire: 2022/2023

Acknowledgements

To begin with, I express my gratitude to ALLAH who gave me the strength, courage and patience to accomplish this work. Thanks to Him, this work was completed.

I thank my thesis directors, L ELkhiri for helping me during all these year, with a lot of patience, generosity from the reading of our thesis to the defence. I would also like to thank them especially for their invaluable advice during the writing of this thesis. I would also like to thank them particularly for their invaluable advice when writing this thesis.

I warmly thank Dr. Benaissa Abedelmelek for agreeing to be part of this Jury and for reviewing this Master's thesis. I am particularly honored that Doctor Benyoussef Soufiane has also agreed to chair this Defense Jury. الى أوسط أبواب الجنة الى ملهمي و نور حياتي "والدي الحبيب"
اله الدي الحبيب"
اله من وضعت الجنة تحت أقدامها و حملتني وهن على وهن إلى عاية هاته اللحظة "أمي الحنون"
الي خالي العزيز أعزك الله و شفاك و حفظك اللي من شدوا آزري و شاركوني في أموري و أمري إلى سندي و مسندي "إخوتي" أدام الله نبضكم اللي ورثة الأنبياء أساتذتي الأعزاء أنار الله دربكم كما أنرتم لنا سبيل العلم النوي و كل من كان له الفضل و لو المدعاء في تحصيل هذا العمل المتواضع بدعاء في تحصيل هذا العمل المتواضع

الإهــــداء

لله الشكركله أن وفقني لهذه اللحظة، فالحمد لله رب العالمين والصلاة والسلام على نبيه الكريم.

الحمد لله ما تم جمد ولا ختم سعي إلا بفضله وما تخطى العبد من عقبات وصعوبات إلا بتوفيقه ومعونته...لطالماكان حلما انتظرته... اليوم وبكل فخر تخرجت من "

مرحلة الماستر" تخصص تحليل دالي وتطبيقات (رياضيات)

فالحمد لله على البدء وعند الختام.

إلى سكان قلبي.....

أهدي ثواب هذا البحث إلى من تربيت على يديه ومن علمني القيم والمبادئ إلى من لا ينفصل اسمى عن اسمه

إلى الذي كان له الفضل الأول بعد الله في بلوغي للخوض في ميادين العلم ، ملجأي وسندي ويدي اليمنى في هذه المرحلة إلى عزي واعتزازي بذاتي إلى القلب الحنون إلى الرجل الأبرز في حياتي ،أنت وهبتني القلم فشكرا

(والدى الحبيب حفظه الله)

وأهدي ثمرة جمدي ودراستي وفرحتي المنتظرة إلى من وضعتني على طريق الحياة وغمرتني بحبها وحنانها إلى من محدت لي طريق العلم إلى من كانت ملجأي في هذه الرحلة إلى من لهج لسانها بالدعاء لي التي تحملتني في أسوء حالاتي وظروفي وضغوطاتي الوحيدة التي كانت بجانبي دائما لولاها لم أصل إلى هذا المستوى اليوم (أمى الحنونة حفظها الله)

إلى **إخوتي** "نادية" "محمد الأمين" "شيماء" "عبد الرحمان" ...إليكم يا من خففتم عني مشقة هذه الأيام وكنتم داعمين ومساندين لي أنتم ضادات ،ضانات، ضروريات ،أنتم حصن وحرز وحب وسعادات

إلى السحابة الجميلة... التي رحلت وما تزال تمطر في قلبي "جدتي الغالية " رحمك الله إلى أمي الثانية التي لم أصل إلى خط النهاية إلا بفضلها ودعمها واهتامها (عمتى فاطمة)

إلى نفسي الطموحة التي تدفعني للأمام ولا تقبل الاستسلام أبدا إلى الأهل والصديقات الحبيبات قلبا ودما و وفاء

إلى العلم و طلابه

والى جميع أساتذتي الكرام ممن لم يتوانوا في مد يد العون لي

أهدي إليكم جميعا ثواب هذا الجهد والبحث فقد كنتم على الدوام ملهمي فعلى خطاكم أسير، وبعلمكم أقتدي،

وبكم ينعقد العزم والقوة للخوض في ميادين العلم والحياة بعد التوكل على الله سبحانه وتعالى فجزاكم الله كل خير وأثابكم خير الجزاء.

الطالبة: قادة مريم

Notations

- 1. \mathbb{N} , \mathbb{Z} , \mathbb{Q} , \mathbb{R} and \mathbb{C} respectively denote the sets of natural integers, relative integers, rationals, reals and complexes numbers.
- 2. A[x] denotes the ring of polynomials whose coefficients in ring A.
- 3. deg(P(x)): polynomial degree P(x).
- 4. $\binom{n}{k}$ binomial coefficient, such that n and k two integer where $0 \le k \le n$.
- 5. $\binom{z}{k}$ generalized binomial coefficient, such that z is a complex number and k an integer.
- 6. H_n the harmonic number, defined as

$$H_n = 1 + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \dots + \frac{1}{n}.$$

7. $H_{n,m}$ the harmonic number of order m, defined as

$$H_{n,m} = 1 + \frac{1}{2^m} + \frac{1}{3^m} + \dots + \frac{1}{n^m}.$$

- 8. $[x^n](P(x))$ designates the cofficient of x^n in the polynomial P(x).
- 9. B_n the Bernoulli number defined by the recurrence relation

$$B_0 = 1 \text{ and } B_n = -\frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} {n+1 \choose k} B_k, \ n \geqslant 1.$$

10. ζ the Riemann zeta function, defined as:

$$\zeta(s) = \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{n^s} = 1 + \frac{1}{2^s} + \frac{1}{3^s} + \cdots$$
, where Re(s) > 1.

11. $\mathbf{Li}_{2}(x)$ the dilogarithm function defined by the power series

$$\mathbf{Li}_{2}(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{n^{2}} x^{n} \text{ for } |x| < 1.$$

12. s(n,k) the Stirling numbers of the first kind, defined as

$$x(x-1)\cdots(x-n+1) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} s(n,k) x^{k}.$$

- 13. LHS is informal shorthand for the left-hand side of an equation.
- 14. RHS is informal shorthand for the right-hand side of an equation.

Abstract

The study of the calculus of indefinite integrals concerning logarithms, log-sin integrals or others is a crucial research topic being widely focused on. In this thesis we have studied a problem related to an interesting logarithm integral such

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{n} (1-t)}{t^{m}} dt \text{ where } n, m \in \mathbb{N}^{*}.$$

We extend certain sums involving the harmonic numbers and binomial coefficients which are linked to certain logarithmic integral representations.

Keywords: Harmonic numbers, Binomial coefficients, Logarithm integral.

Résumé

L'étude du calcul des intégrales indéfinies concernant les logarithmes, les intégrales log-sin ou autres est un sujet de recherche crucial largement focalisé. Dans cette thèse, nous avons étudié un problème lié à une intégrale logarithmique intéressante telle que

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{n} (1-t)}{t^{m}} dt \text{ where } n, m \in \mathbb{N}^{*}.$$

Mots-clés: Nombres harmoniques, Coefficients binomiaux, Logarithme integrale.

Contents

In	trod	uction	8
1	Pre	liminaries	10
	1.1	Introduction	10
	1.2	Binomial coefficients	10
	1.3	Generalized binomial coefficients	11
	1.4	Harmonic numbers	12
	1.5	Some values of Riemann zeta function	13
		1.5.1 Basel problem $\zeta(2)$	14
		1.5.2 Apéry's constant $\zeta(3)$	16
2	Sun	n involving harmonic numbers and binomial coefficients	17
	2.1	Sums involving binomial coefficients	17
	2.2	Sums involving harmonic numbers	19
	2.3	Some applications of Cauchy product	21
		2.3.1 Cauchy product of two infinite series	21
		2.3.2 Cauchy product of two power series	21
3	A b	inomial formula for evaluating some Logarithmic integrals	23
	3.1	Introduction	23
	3.2	values of $\int_0^1 x^m \ln(1-x) dx$ and $\int_0^1 x^m \ln^2(1-x) dx$	23
	3.3	Values of $\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{m} x}{1+x} dx$	26
	3.4	Some values of $\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{n}(1-t)}{t^{m}} dt$	27

Bibliography			
Conclusion			
3.8	Example and problem	36	
3.7	Some applications of Logarithmic Integrals	33	
3.6	Values of $\int_{-x}^{1} \frac{\ln(1-x)\ln^2(1+x)}{x} dx$	32	
3.5	Some properties of dilogarithm function $\mathbf{Li}_{2}(x)$	29	

Introduction

Introduction

In mathematics, an integral is the continuous analog of a sum, which is used to calculate areas, volumes and their generalizations. Integration, the process of calculating an integral, is one of the two fundamental operations of calculus. Integration began as a method for solving problems in mathematics and physics, it is used today in a wide variety of scientific fields. This thesis is devoted to an in-depth study of the main problems seen in some journals.

Our work has three chapters.

The first chapter is devoted to generalities, we start by defining the binomial coefficients and the generalized binomial coefficients, we study the important and general properties of these binomial coefficients, then we define in a natural way the sequences of harmonic numbers H_n and their generalization harmonic numbers of order $H_{n,m}$.

At the end of this chapter due to the important role played the riemann zeta function of the calculation, we given an simple proof of Basel problem and some intersing values of $\zeta(n)$.

The second chapter constitutes the essential part of this thesis, it is devoted to an in -depth study on the study of certain properties and theorems concerning more specifically the sums involving binomial coefficients and sums involving harmonic numbers such

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{H_k}{k}.$$

At the end of this chapter, we recall the Cauchy product of tow series and we present some various series such the development of

$$f(x) = \frac{\ln(1-x)}{1-x},$$

to use for solving important integrals in chapter three.

The last chapter of the theses introduces a collection of some problems seen in some new papers. Most of the problems appeared in some mathematical journals sush MAA.

we present various important integrals evaluated using series, combinatorial identities and harmonic numbers.

The main results of this chapter represent an interesting contribution in integral logarithms. They are obtained by using technical operations on binomial coefficients and harmonic numbers.

Firstly, we solve some problems concerning logarithmic integrals related to the harmonic series like

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{m} x}{1+x} dx \text{ and } \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{m} (1-x)}{x^{m}} dx$$

and we have also given some properties of the dilogarithm function $\mathbf{Li}_{2}(x)$.

Finally, in this chapter, many of these integrals invite the use of combinatorial mathematical techniques that involve elegant connections between integrals and infinite series.

Chapter 1

Preliminaries

1.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we recall the definitions and some properties of the binomial coefficients, generalized binomial coefficients, the harmonic numbers, we also recall the riemann zeta functions and we give some values of rieman zeta like $\zeta(2)$, $\zeta(3)$, $\zeta(4)$.

1.2 Binomial coefficients

Binomial coefficients are involved in many areas of mathematics: binomial development in algebra, enumeration, series expansion, laws of probability, etc.

For any natural integer n and for any polynomial P(x) of A[x], where A[x] denotes the ring of polynomials whose coefficients in ring A.

The notation $[x^n](P(x))$ designates the coefficient of x^n in the polynomial P(x). So if

$$P\left(x\right) = \sum_{k \ge 0} a_k x^k,$$

we write

$$[x^n]P(x) = a_n.$$

With this notation, we define the binomial coefficient $\binom{n}{k}$, where n and k are two natural integers by

$$\binom{n}{k} = [x^n](1+x)^n = [x^n] \sum_{k>0} \binom{n}{k} x^k.$$

For all natural numbers n and k, the binomial coefficients satisfy

1.
$$\binom{n}{k+1} = \binom{n-1}{k+1} + \binom{n-1}{k}$$
 (1.1)

$$\binom{n}{k} = \frac{n}{k} \binom{n-1}{k-1} \tag{1.2}$$

3.
$$\binom{n}{k} = \binom{n}{n-k},$$
 (1.3)

4.
$$\binom{n}{k+1} = \frac{n-k}{k+1} \binom{n}{k}$$
 (1.4)

5.
$$\binom{n}{m} \binom{m}{k} = \binom{n}{k} \binom{n-k}{m-k}$$
 (1.5)

Remark 1.1 Andreas von Ettingshausen introduced the notation $\binom{n}{k}$ in 1826, although the numbers were known centuries earlier as C(n,k), C_n^k , and $C_{n,k}$.

1.3 Generalized binomial coefficients

Mathematicians often generalize definitions, and the binomial coefficients are no exceptions. The typical way to generalize $\binom{n}{k}$ is to let n be an arbitrary complex number.

Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ et $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, We define the generalized binomial coefficient $\binom{\alpha}{k}$ as follows

$$\binom{\alpha}{k} = \prod_{j=0}^{k-1} (\alpha - j) = \frac{\alpha (\alpha - 1) \cdots (\alpha - k + 1)}{k!} \text{ for } k \ge 0.$$

and

$$\binom{\alpha}{k} = 0 \text{ for } k < 0.$$

The binomial coefficients intervene in the development in whole series of $(1+z)^{\alpha}$ for |z| < 1. we have

$$(1+z)^{\alpha} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} {\alpha \choose k} z^k$$
 for $|z| < 1$

In the case where $\alpha \in \mathbb{Q}$, (rep \mathbb{Z} , \mathbb{N}), we have $\binom{\alpha}{k} \in \mathbb{Q}$, (rep \mathbb{Z} , \mathbb{N}) For $\alpha = n$ with $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we also find the definition of the binomial coefficient classic $\binom{n}{k}$.

We have the following properties

1. Pascal's Identity for general binomial coefficients

2. Chair Identity

$$\begin{pmatrix} z \\ k \end{pmatrix} = \frac{z}{k} \begin{pmatrix} z - 1 \\ k - 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
 for $z \in \mathbb{C}$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$ (1.7)

3. Transformation

$${-z \choose k} = (-1)^k {z+k-1 \choose k} \text{ for } z \in \mathbb{C} \text{ and } k \in \mathbb{N}$$
 (1.8)

4. Cancellation Identity

$$\binom{z}{n} \binom{n}{k} = \binom{z-k}{n-k} \binom{z}{k} \quad \text{for } z \in \mathbb{C} \text{ and } k, n \in \mathbb{N}$$
 (1.9)

5. Vandermonde formula

$$\sum_{i+j=k} {\alpha \choose i} {\beta \choose j} = {\alpha+\beta \choose k} \quad \text{for } \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{C} \text{ and } k \in \mathbb{N}$$
 (1.10)

1.4 Harmonic numbers

Harmonic numbers have been studied since antiquity and are important in various branches of number theory. They are sometimes loosely termed harmonic series, are closely related to the Riemann zeta function, and appear in the expressions of various special functions.

In mathematics, the n-th harmonic number is the sum of the reciprocals of the first n natural numbers, defined as :

$$H_0 = 0, \quad H_n = \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{1}{k}, \text{ for } n \in \mathbb{N}^*.$$

Recall that harmonic numbers of order m are given by

$$H_{0,m} = 0, \quad H_{n,m} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{k^m}, \text{ for } n \in \mathbb{N}^*.$$

with $H_{n,1} = H_n$ are the classical harmonic numbers.

An integral representation given by Euler is

Lemma 1.1 Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$, the following identity holds

$$H_n = \int_0^1 \frac{1 - x^n}{1 - x} dx \tag{1.11}$$

Proof. we have

$$H_n = 1 + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \dots + \frac{1}{n}$$

$$= \int_0^1 dx + \int_0^1 x dx + \int_0^1 x^2 dx + \dots + \int_0^1 x^{n-1} dx$$

$$= \int_0^1 \left(1 + x + x^2 + \dots + x^{n-1}\right) dx,$$

using the sum of a geometric sequence, the proof is complete.

1.5 Some values of Riemann zeta function

The Riemann zeta function or Euler–Riemann zeta function, denoted by the Greek letter ζ (zeta), is an analytic function defined, for any complex number s such that Re(s) > 1, by the Riemann series

$$\zeta(s) = \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{n^s} = 1 + \frac{1}{2^s} + \frac{1}{3^s} + \cdots$$

Euler calculated (as part of his solution to the Basel problem) the value of the function ζ for even strictly positive integers; he deduced the formula

$$\zeta(2m) = \sum_{m=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{n^{2m}} = \frac{|B_{2m}| (2\pi)^{2m}}{2(2m)!}$$

where Bernoulli numbers $(B_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ are defined by the recurrence relation:

$$B_0 = 1 \text{ and } B_n = -\frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} {n+1 \choose k} B_k, \ n \geqslant 1.$$

 B_n is called the *n*-th Bernoulli number.

These values of $\zeta(2k)$ are therefore expressed using the even powers of π , for example

$$\zeta(2) = \frac{\pi^2}{6}; \ \zeta(4) = \frac{\pi^2}{90}; \ \zeta(6) = \frac{\pi^2}{945}; \cdots$$

1.5.1 Basel problem $\zeta(2)$

The Basel problem is an important problem in number theory that was first posed by Pietro Mengoli in 1650 and solved by Leonhard Euler in 1734. The Basel problem so is named for the Swiss city in whose university two of the Bernoulli brothers successively served as professor of mathematics (Jakob, 1687 - 1705, and Johann, 1705 - 1748). Coincidentally Euler was born in Basel.

The Basel problem asks whether the infinite sum

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k^2} = 1 + \frac{1}{2^2} + \frac{1}{3^2} + \cdots,$$

has a closed form solution, that is, does it converge to a finite number and if it does, what number does it converge to?

The Basel problem resisted solution for some 84 years until the then 26 year old Euler finally solved it. Euler's surprising solution is

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k^2} = \frac{\pi^2}{6}.$$

This result has been proven by many mathematicians using different methods and here we have provided a simple proof presented in 2017 by A. Novac [21]

Let

$$I = \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{1 + y^2 - x^2 y^2} dy dx$$

It follows that

$$I = \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{1 + y^{2} - x^{2}y^{2}} dy dx = \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{1 + (y\sqrt{1 - x^{2}})^{2}} dy dx$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - x^{2}}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\sqrt{1 - x^{2}}}{1 + (y\sqrt{1 - x^{2}})^{2}} dy dx$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - x^{2}}} \left[\arctan\left(y\sqrt{1 - x^{2}}\right) \right]_{0}^{\infty} dx$$

$$= \frac{\pi}{2} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - x^{2}}} dx$$

$$= \frac{\pi}{2} \left[\arcsin x \right]_{0}^{1} = \frac{\pi^{2}}{4}.$$

then

$$I = \frac{\pi^2}{4} \tag{1.12}$$

and on the other nother hand by changing the order of integration and using the

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{1}{1 - a^{2}x^{2}} dx = \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{1}{1 + ax} + \frac{1}{1 - ax} dx$$
$$= \frac{1}{2a} \left[\ln \left(\frac{1 + ax}{1 - ax} \right) \right]_{0}^{1} = \frac{1}{2a} \ln \left(\frac{1 + a}{1 - a} \right)$$

we have

$$I = \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{1 + y^{2} - x^{2}y^{2}} dy dx = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{1 + y^{2}} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{1}{1 - \left(\frac{y}{\sqrt{1 + y^{2}}}\right)^{2} x^{2}} dx dy$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\ln\left(y + \sqrt{1 + y^{2}}\right)}{y\sqrt{1 + y^{2}}} dy$$

With the substitution

$$y = \mathbf{sh}t$$

we find that:

$$I = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\ln (\mathbf{sh}t + \mathbf{ch}t)}{\mathbf{sh}t\mathbf{ch}t} \mathbf{ch}t dt = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\ln (\mathbf{sh}t + \mathbf{ch}t)}{\mathbf{sh}t} dt$$
$$= 2 \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{t}{e^{t} - e^{-t}} dt$$
$$= 2 \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{te^{-t}}{1 - e^{-2t}} dt$$

using the development series $\frac{1}{1-x} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} x^n$ we obtain

$$I = 2\int_{0}^{\infty} t \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} e^{(-2n-1)t} dt = 2\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} t e^{(-2n-1)t} dt$$

integration by parts

$$I = 2\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(2n+1)^2}$$

using the remark

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{1}{(2k+1)^2} + \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{(2k)^2} = \sum_{k=1}^{2n+1} \frac{1}{k^2}$$

we have

$$I = 2\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(2n+1)^2} = 2\left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^2} - \frac{1}{4}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^2}\right) = \frac{3}{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^2}.$$
 (1.13)

Eqs. (1.12) and (1.13) conclude the proof of Euler's formula.

1.5.2 Apéry's constant $\zeta(3)$

In mathematics, Apéry's constant is the sum of the reciprocals of the positive cubes. That is, it is defined as the number

$$\zeta(3) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k^3}$$

where ζ is the Riemann zeta function. It has an approximate value

$$\zeta(3) = 1.202056903159594285399738161511449990764986292...$$

 $\zeta(3)$ was named Apéry's constant after the French mathematician Roger Apéry, who proved in 1978 that it is an irrational number.

Chapter 2

Sum involving harmonic numbers and binomial coefficients

Investigation of the harmonic numbers properties traces it is history back to Ancient Greece and has the fundamental importance to the several fields of mathematics. These numbers are closely related to Riemann zeta function and appear in many expressions of other special functions.

Sums involving numbers numbers and binomial coefficients have been of considerable interest throughout the 20th century. We extend certain sums involving the harmonic numbers and binomial coefficients which are related to certain logarithmic integral representations.

In order to prove the main problems of chapter 3 , we need some auxiliary results given by the following lemmas.

2.1 Sums involving binomial coefficients

Lemma 2.1 Let n be positive integers, then

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} (-1)^k \frac{1}{k} \binom{n}{k} = -H_n \tag{2.1}$$

and

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} (-1)^k \frac{1}{k^2} \binom{n}{k} = \frac{H_n}{n}.$$
 (2.2)

Proof. By induction on n.

Let

$$P(n): \sum_{k=1}^{n} (-1)^k \frac{1}{k} \binom{n}{k} = -H_n.$$

We have, LHS of P(1) is

$$\sum_{k=1}^{1} (-1)^k \frac{1}{k} \binom{1}{k} = -1,$$

and RHS of P(1) is

$$-H_1 = -1,$$

so P(1) is true.

Now assume P(n) is true, for some natural number $n \geq 1$, i.e. by recurrence suppose that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} (-1)^k \frac{1}{k} \binom{n}{k} = -H_n$$

and deduce P(n+1).

We have

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n+1} (-1)^k \frac{1}{k} \binom{n+1}{k} = \sum_{k=1}^{n+1} (-1)^k \frac{1}{k} \left[\binom{n}{k} + \binom{n}{k-1} \right]$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{n+1} (-1)^k \frac{1}{k} \binom{n}{k} + \sum_{k=1}^{n+1} (-1)^k \frac{1}{k} \binom{n}{k-1}$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{n} (-1)^k \frac{1}{k} \binom{n}{k} + \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=1}^{n+1} (-1)^k \binom{n+1}{k}$$

$$= -H_n - \frac{1}{n+1}$$

$$= -H_{n+1}$$

Using the integral representation of harmonic number and the substitution x = 1 - u, we have

$$H_n = \int_0^1 \frac{1 - x^n}{1 - x} dx = \int_0^1 \frac{1 - (1 - u)^n}{u} du$$

$$= -\int_0^1 \sum_{k=1}^n (-1)^k \binom{n}{k} u^{k-1} du = -\sum_{k=1}^n (-1)^k \binom{n}{k} \int_0^1 u^{k-1} du$$

$$= -\sum_{k=1}^n (-1)^k \frac{1}{k} \binom{n}{k}.$$

Example 2.1 Show that the above identity (2.2) holds.

2.2 Sums involving harmonic numbers

. Recently, many other remarkable finite sum identities involving the harmonic numbers have been developed by many authors in different forms using a variety of methods.

In this section we intersting to calculate the following sums.

Lemma 2.2 Let $n \ge 1$ be integers. The following identity holds

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{H_k}{k} = \frac{H_n^2 + H_{n,2}}{2}.$$
 (2.3)

Proof. We proceed as follow

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} H_k^2 + H_n^2 = \sum_{k=0}^{n} H_k^2 = \sum_{k=1}^{n} H_k^2 = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} H_{k+1}^2$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \left(H_k + \frac{1}{k+1} \right)^2$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \left(H_k^2 + 2 \frac{H_k}{k+1} + \frac{1}{(k+1)^2} \right)$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} H_k^2 + 2 \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{H_k}{k+1} + \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{1}{(k+1)^2}$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} H_k^2 + 2 \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{H_{k+1} - \frac{1}{k+1}}{k+1} + \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{1}{(k+1)^2}$$

Therefore

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} H_k^2 + H_n^2 = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} H_k^2 + 2 \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{H_{k+1}}{k+1} - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{1}{(k+1)^2}$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} H_k^2 + 2 \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{H_k}{k} - \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{k^2}$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} H_k^2 + 2 \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{H_k}{k} - H_{n,2}$$

the proof is complete.

Lemma 2.3 For n be integers we have

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^k \binom{n}{k} H_k = -\frac{1}{n}.$$
 (2.4)

Proof. We proceed as follow

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k} k \binom{n}{k} H_{k} = \sum_{k=1}^{n+1} (-1)^{k} k \binom{n}{k} H_{k} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k+1} (k+1) \binom{n}{k+1} H_{k+1}$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k+1} (n-k) \binom{n}{k} \left(H_{k} + \frac{1}{k+1} \right)$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k+1} (n-k) \binom{n}{k} H_{k} + \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k+1} \binom{n}{k} \frac{n-k}{k+1}$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k} k \binom{n}{k} H_{k} - n \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k} \binom{n}{k} H_{k} + \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k+1} \binom{n}{k} \frac{n-k}{k+1}$$

then

$$n\sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^k \binom{n}{k} H_k = \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k+1} \binom{n}{k} \frac{n-k}{k+1}$$

and since

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k+1} \binom{n}{k} \frac{n-k}{k+1} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k+1} \frac{n+1}{k+1} \binom{n}{k} - \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k+1} \binom{n}{k}$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k+1} \binom{n+1}{k+1} - \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k+1} \binom{n}{k}$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{n+1} (-1)^k \binom{n+1}{k} - \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k+1} \binom{n}{k}$$

$$= -1 - 0$$

$$= -1$$

the proof is complete.

Corollay 2.1 The following equality holds:

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{(-1)^k}{k+1} \binom{n}{k} H_{k+1} = -\frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k+1} \binom{n+1}{k+1} H_{k+1} = \frac{1}{(n+1)^2}.$$

Corollay 2.2 By the Binomial inversion formula

$$a_k = \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^k \binom{n}{k} b_k \iff b_k = \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^k \binom{n}{k} a_k$$

where $(a)_n$ and $(b)_n$ are two complexe sequences, we have

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} (-1)^k \frac{1}{k} \binom{n}{k} = -H_n \iff \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^k \binom{n}{k} H_k = -\frac{1}{n}.$$

2.3 Some applications of Cauchy product

In mathematics, more specifically in mathematical analysis, the Cauchy product is the convolution of two infinite series. It is named after the French mathematician Augustin-Louis Cauchy.

2.3.1 Cauchy product of two infinite series

Let $\sum_{n\geq 0} a_n$, $\sum_{n\geq 0} b_n$ be two infinite series with complex terms. The Cauchy product of these two infinite series is defined by

$$\left(\sum_{j\geq 0} a_j\right) \left(\sum_{j\geq 0} b_j\right) = \sum_{n\geq 0} c_n \text{ where } c_n = \sum_{i=0}^n a_i b_{n-i}.$$

2.3.2 Cauchy product of two power series

Let $\sum_{n\geq 0} a_n x^n$, $\sum_{n\geq 0} b_n x^n$ be two power series, with complex terms.

The Cauchy product formula of these two power series is defined by

$$\left(\sum_{j\geq 0} a_j x^i\right) \left(\sum_{j\geq 0} b_j x^j\right) = \sum_{n\geq 0} \left(\sum_{i=0}^n a_i b_{n-i}\right). \tag{2.5}$$

The generalat forumula is

$$\left(\sum_{j>r} a_j x^i\right) \left(\sum_{j>s} b_j x^j\right) = \sum_{n>r+s} \left(\sum_{i=r}^{n-s} a_i b_{n-i}\right) x^n \text{ or } = \sum_{n>r+s} \left(\sum_{j=s}^{n-r} a_{n-j} b_j\right) x^n.$$
 (2.6)

Lemma 2.4 we have

$$\frac{\ln(1+x)}{1+x} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{n+1} H_n x^n \quad |x| < 1, \tag{2.7}$$

$$-\frac{\ln(1-x)}{1-x} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n x^n \quad |x| < 1.$$
 (2.8)

Proof. Stating from the known expansion of two series

$$\ln(1+x) = \sum_{n\geq 1} \frac{(-1)^{n+1}}{n} x^n \text{ and } \frac{1}{1+x} = \sum_{n\geq 0} (-1)^n x^n, \quad |x| < 1$$
 (2.9)

from the relation (2.6), we have

$$\frac{\ln(1+x)}{1+x} = \left(\sum_{n\geq 1} \frac{(-1)^{n+1}}{n} x^n\right) \left(\sum_{n\geq 0} (-1)^n x^n\right) = \sum_{n\geq 1} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n-0} \frac{(-1)^{i+1}}{i} (-1)^{n-i}\right) x^n$$

$$= \sum_{n\geq 1} (-1)^{n+1} \left(\sum_{i=1}^n \frac{1}{i}\right) x^n$$

$$= \sum_{n\geq 1} (-1)^{n+1} H_n x^n.$$

Stating from the known expansion of two series

$$\ln(1-x) = -\sum_{n>1} \frac{1}{n} x^n \text{ and } \frac{1}{1-x} = \sum_{n>0} x^n, \quad |x| < 1$$

and from the relation (2.6), we have

$$-\frac{\ln(1-x)}{1-x} = \left(\sum_{n\geq 1} \frac{1}{n} x^n\right) \left(\sum_{n\geq 0} x^n\right) = \sum_{n\geq 1} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n-0} \frac{1}{i}\right) x^n$$
$$= \sum_{n\geq 1} H_n x^n.$$

Corollay 2.3 We find by integration of relation (2.7)

$$\frac{1}{2}\ln^2(1+x) = \sum_{n\geq 0} (-1)^{n+1} \frac{H_n}{n+1} x^{n+1}$$

then

$$\frac{\ln^2(1+x)}{x} = 2\sum_{n>0} (-1)^{n+1} \frac{H_n}{n+1} x^n.$$

Also we have

$$\frac{1}{2}\ln^2(1-x) = \sum_{n>0} \frac{H_n}{n+1} x^{n+1}$$

then

$$\frac{\ln^2(1-x)}{x} = 2\sum_{n\geq 0} \frac{H_n}{n+1} x^n$$

Chapter 3

A binomial formula for evaluating some Logarithmic integrals

3.1 Introduction

This chapter constitutes the essential part of this thesis, contains some techniques of integration which are not found in standard calculs and advanced calculus book. it can be considered as a map to explore many classical approaches to evaluate integrales.

3.2 values of
$$\int_{0}^{1} x^{m} \ln(1-x) dx$$
 and $\int_{0}^{1} x^{m} \ln^{2}(1-x) dx$

The follwing formula (3.1), which is quite old, is recorded in various tables of definite integrals. It appears as formula 865.5 in [10], It is worth mentioning that the origin of such integrals dates back to the time of the English mathematician Joseph Wolstenholme (1829–1891), and the first proposed integral appeared in his book with mathematical problems.

Problem 3.1 Let $n \ge 1$ be an integer. The following identity holds

$$\int_{0}^{1} x^{n-1} \ln(1-x) \, dx = -\frac{H_n}{n}.\tag{3.1}$$

Proof. .

First proof

Let

$$I_n = \int_0^1 x^{n-1} \ln(1-x) dx.$$

Using integration by parts

$$u = x^{n-1} \longrightarrow u' = (n-1) x^{n-2}$$

 $v' = \ln(1-x) \longrightarrow v = (x-1) \ln(1-x) - x$

then

$$I_{n} = \left[x^{n-1}\left((x-1)\ln(1-x)-x\right)\right]_{0}^{1} - (n-1)\int_{0}^{1}x^{n-2}\left((x-1)\ln(1-x)-x\right)dx$$

$$= \left[x^{n-1}\left((x-1)\ln(1-x)\right)\right]_{0}^{1} - \left[x^{n}\right]_{0}^{1} - (n-1)\left(I_{n} - I_{n-1}\right) + (n-1)\int_{0}^{1}x^{n-1}dx$$

$$= -(n-1)\left(I_{n} - I_{n-1}\right) - \frac{1}{n},$$

which yields the recurrence relation in k,

$$kI_k - (k-1)I_{k-1} = \frac{-1}{k}.$$

Giving values to k from k=2 to n and using that $\int_{0}^{1} \ln(1-x) dx = -1$, we obtain that

$$2I_{2} - I_{1} = \frac{-1}{2}.$$

$$3I_{3} - 2I_{2} = \frac{-1}{3}$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\vdots$$

$$(n-1)I_{n-1} - (n-2)I_{n-2} = \frac{-1}{n-1}$$

$$nI_{n} - (n-1)I_{n-1} = \frac{-1}{n}$$

then

$$nI_n - I_1 = -\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + \dots + \frac{1}{n}\right)$$

the proof of relation (3.1) is given.

Second proof

we have

$$\int_{0}^{1} x^{n-1} \ln (1-x) dx = \int_{0}^{1} (1-x)^{n-1} \ln x dx$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (-1)^{k} \binom{n-1}{k} x^{k} \ln x dx$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (-1)^{k} \binom{n-1}{k} \int_{0}^{1} x^{k} \ln x dx$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (-1)^{k+1} \frac{1}{(k+1)^{2}} \binom{n-1}{k}$$

$$= \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (-1)^{k+1} \frac{1}{k+1} \binom{n}{k+1}$$

$$= \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} (-1)^{k} \frac{1}{k} \binom{n}{k}$$

using the formula (2.4) the proof of formula (3.1) is given. ■ the following problem is proved in 2016 by Vălean [27]

Problem 3.2 Let $n \ge 1$ be an integer. The following identity holds

$$\int_{0}^{1} x^{n-1} \ln^{2} (1-x) dx = \frac{H_{n}^{2} + H_{n,2}}{n}$$

Proof. Let

$$J_n = \int_{0}^{1} x^{n-1} \ln^2(1-x) \, dx$$

using integration by parts as in above problem, we obtain the recurrence relation in k,

$$kJ_k - (k-1)J_{k-1} = 2\frac{H_k}{k}$$
.

Giving values to k from k=2 to n and using that $\int_{0}^{1} \ln^{2}(1-x) dx = 2$, we obtain that

$$J_n = 2\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{H_k}{k}$$

using the relation (2.3), the proof is complete. \blacksquare

3.3 Values of $\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{m} x}{1+x} dx$

Problem 3.3 Let m be a positive integer. Then the following equality holds

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{m} t}{1+t} dt = \frac{(-1)^{m+1} m! (1-2^{m})}{2^{m}} \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{n^{m+1}}$$

Proof. We have

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{m} t}{1+t} dt = \int_{0}^{1} \ln^{m} t \sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} (-1)^{n} t^{n} dt = \sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} (-1)^{n} \int_{0}^{1} t^{n} \ln^{m} t dt$$

using the subtitition $t = e^{-x}$ and using

$$I_{n,k} = \int_{0}^{+\infty} t^n e^{-(m+1)t} dt$$

we have by part

$$u = t^n \longrightarrow u' = nt^{n-1}$$

$$v' = e^{-(m+1)t} \longrightarrow v = -\frac{1}{m+1}e^{-(m+1)t}$$

hence, we have the identity

$$I_{n,m} = \frac{n}{k+1} I_{n-1,m} = \frac{n!}{(m+1)^{n+1}}$$

we immediately have

$$\int_{0}^{1} t^{n} \ln^{m} t dt = -\int_{+\infty}^{0} e^{-nx} (-x)^{m} e^{-x} dx$$

$$= (-1)^{m} \int_{0}^{+\infty} x^{m} e^{-(n+1)x} dx$$

$$= \frac{(-1)^{m} m!}{(n+1)^{m+1}}$$

then

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{m} t}{1+t} dt = (-1)^{m} m! \sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n}}{(n+1)^{m+1}} = (-1)^{m+1} m! \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n}}{n^{m+1}}$$

and by the remark

$$\sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{(-1)^n + 1}{n^{\hat{u}+1}} = 2\sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{(2n)^{m+1}} = \frac{1}{2^m} \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{n^{m+1}}$$
(3.2)

we have

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{m} t}{1+t} dt = (-1)^{m+1} m! \left(\frac{1}{2^{m}} \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{n^{m+1}} - \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{n^{m+1}} \right) = \frac{(-1)^{m+1} m! (1-2^{m})}{2^{m}} \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{n^{m+1}}$$

Corollay 3.1 As an application for some values of m we have

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln t}{1+t} dt = \frac{-1}{2} \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{n^2} = -\frac{1}{12} \pi^2$$
 (3.3)

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{2} t}{1+t} dt = \frac{3}{2} \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{n^{3}} = \frac{3}{2} \zeta(3)$$
 (3.4)

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{3} t}{1+t} dt = \frac{-21}{4} \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{n^{4}} = \frac{-21}{4} \zeta(4)$$
 (3.5)

3.4 Some values of $\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{n}(1-t)}{t^{m}} dt$

The College Mathematics Journal is an expository magazine it publishes well-written and captivating articles exploring new mathematics, or old mathematics in a new way. Most of its articles are accessible to upper-level undergraduate students.

In this section we have detailed the proof of the problem 1117 (College Mathematics Journal 2018), proposed by C. I. Vălean (Romania). Solution given by Khristo N. Boyadzhiev, Ohio Northern University Department of Mathematics and Statistics.

Problem 3.4 Let n and m be a positive integer. Then the following equality holds

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{n} (1-x)}{x^{m}} dx = (-1)^{n} n! \sum_{k=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{k^{n+1}} {m+k-2 \choose k-1}.$$
 (3.6)

Proof. We have by the substitution $x = 1 - e^{-t}$ we write

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{n} (1-x)}{x^{m}} dx = (-1)^{n} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{t^{n} e^{-t}}{(1-e^{-t})^{m}} dt = (-1)^{n} \int_{0}^{+\infty} t^{n} e^{-t} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} {\binom{-m}{k}} (-1)^{k} e^{-kt} dt$$

$$= (-1)^{n} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{k} {\binom{-m}{k}} \int_{0}^{+\infty} t^{n} e^{-(k+1)t} dt$$

$$= (-1)^{n} n! \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{(k+1)^{n+1}} {\binom{-m}{k}}$$

$$= (-1)^{n} n! \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(k+1)^{n+1}} {\binom{m+k-1}{k}}.$$

$$= (-1)^{n} n! \sum_{k=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{k^{n+1}} {\binom{m+k-2}{k-1}}.$$

Corollay 3.2 As an application for this problem we have

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln(1-x)}{x} dx = -\xi(2)$$
 (3.7)

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{2}(1-x)}{x} dx = 2\xi(3)$$
 (3.8)

$$\int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{\ln(1-x)}{x} \right)^{2} dx = 2\xi(2)$$
 (3.9)

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{3}(1-x)}{x} dx = -6\xi(4)$$
 (3.10)

Problem 3.5 Let n be a positive integer. Then the following identity holds

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{n} (1-x)}{x^{m}} dx = n \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} (-1)^{k-1} s (n-1,k) \zeta (n+1-k).$$

where s(n-1,k) is the Stirling numbers of the first kind defined as

$$x(x-1)\cdots(x-n+1) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} s(n,k) x^{k}.$$

Proof. For the proof we shall transform both sides of this equation to one and the same expression.

Left hand side. Taking n = m in relation (3.6), we get

$$\int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{\ln(1-x)}{x} \right)^{n} dx = (-1)^{n} n! \sum_{k=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{k^{n+1}} \binom{n+k-2}{k-1} = (-1)^{n} n! \sum_{k=0}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{(k+1)^{n+1}} \binom{n+k-1}{k}.$$

Right hand side

$$n \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} (-1)^{k-1} s (n-1,k) \zeta (n+1-k) = n \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} (-1)^{k-1} s (n-1,k) \sum_{j=1}^{+\infty} \frac{j^k}{j^{n+1}}$$

$$= n \sum_{j=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{j^{n+1}} \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} (-1)^{k-1} s (n-1,k) j^k$$

$$= n \sum_{j=1}^{+\infty} \frac{(-1)^n}{j^{n+1}} \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} (-1)^{n+k-1} s (n-1,k) j^k.$$

By using the definition of s(n-1,k), we get

$$n\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} (-1)^{k-1} s (n-1,k) \zeta (n+1-k) = (-1)^n n\sum_{j=1}^{+\infty} \frac{j (j+1) \cdots (j+n-2)}{j^{n+1}}$$

$$= (-1)^n n\sum_{j=0}^{+\infty} \frac{(j+1) (j+2) \cdots (j+n-1)}{(j+1)^{n+1}}$$

$$= (-1)^n n (n-1)! \sum_{j=0}^{+\infty} \frac{(j+n-1)!}{(n-1)! j! (j+1)^{n+1}}$$

$$= (-1)^n n! \sum_{k=0}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{(k+1)^{n+1}} \binom{n+k-1}{k}$$

which is exactly the expression above. The proof is completed.

3.5 Some properties of dilogarithm function $Li_2(x)$

The dilogarithm function is the function defined by the power series

$$\mathbf{Li}_{2}(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{n^{2}} x^{n} \text{ for } |x| < 1$$

is a classical function of mathematical physics. Introduced by Leibniz in 1696 [[15], p. 351] and thoroughly discussed by Euler some seventy years later [[11], pp. 124–126], it has subsequently been well studied in the literature (for further historical details

concerning the function see, for example, [18]). The canonical integral representation for the dilogarithm is

$$\mathbf{Li}_{2}(x) = -\int_{0}^{x} \frac{\ln\left(1-t\right)}{t} dt. \tag{3.11}$$

The first work on it seems to have been done by Landen and published in 1760. Independently Euler studied it, and they obtained results such as

$$\mathbf{Li}_{2}(x) + \mathbf{Li}_{2}(1-x) = \frac{\pi^{2}}{6} - \ln x \ln (1-x)$$
 Euler's reflexion formula
$$\mathbf{Li}_{2}(x) + \mathbf{Li}_{2}\left(\frac{x}{x-1}\right) = -\frac{1}{2}\ln^{2}(1-x)$$
 Landen's identity

The first book on this function was by Spence [24] in 1809. Considering the importance of this function, where he aded

$$\mathbf{Li}_{2}(x) + \mathbf{Li}_{2}(-x) = \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{Li}_{2}(x^{2}), \text{ duplication formula}$$

$$\mathbf{Li}_{2}(-x) + \mathbf{Li}_{2}\left(\frac{-1}{x}\right) = -\frac{\pi^{2}}{6} - \frac{1}{2}\ln^{2}x, \text{ inversion formula.}$$

Firstly, we given simple proof of Euler's reflexion formula.

we have by the substitution z=1-t and integration by part in the following secondary integrale

$$\mathbf{Li}_{2}(x) + \mathbf{Li}_{2}(1-x) = -\int_{0}^{x} \frac{\ln(1-t)}{t} dt - \int_{0}^{1-x} \frac{\ln(1-t)}{t} dt$$

$$= -\int_{0}^{x} \frac{\ln(1-t)}{t} dt + \int_{1}^{x} \frac{\ln z}{1-z} dz$$

$$= -\int_{0}^{x} \frac{\ln(1-t)}{t} dt - [\ln z \ln(1-z)]_{1}^{x} + \int_{1}^{x} \frac{\ln(1-z)}{z} dz$$

$$= -\int_{0}^{x} \frac{\ln(1-t)}{t} dt - \ln x \ln(1-x) + \int_{1}^{0} \frac{\ln(1-z)}{z} dz + \int_{0}^{x} \frac{\ln(1-z)}{z} dz$$

$$= -\ln x \ln(1-x) - \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln(1-z)}{z} dz$$

by the identity (3.7) the proof is complete of Euler's reflexion formula is complete.

Substituting $x=\frac{1}{2}$ into Euler's reflexion formula leads to the special value

$$\mathbf{Li}_2\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) = \frac{\pi^2}{12} - \frac{1}{2}\ln^2\frac{1}{2}.$$

The following theorem is proved In 2022 by S. M. Stewart "Some simple proofs of Lima's two-term dilogarithm identity.

Theorem 3.1 For $|x| \leq 1$ the following dilogarithms holds

$$\mathbf{Li}_{2}\left(\frac{1-x}{1+x}\right) - \mathbf{Li}_{2}\left(-\frac{1-x}{1+x}\right) = \frac{\pi^{2}}{4} + \mathbf{Li}_{2}\left(-x\right) - \mathbf{Li}_{2}\left(x\right) + \ln x \ln \frac{1+x}{1-x}$$

Proof. In view of (3.11) it is immediate that

$$\frac{d}{dx}\mathbf{Li}_{2}(x) = -\frac{\ln(1-x)}{x}.$$

Consider

$$\frac{d}{dx} \left[\mathbf{Li}_2 \left(\frac{1-x}{1+x} \right) - \mathbf{Li}_2 \left(-\frac{1-x}{1+x} \right) \right] = \frac{2}{1-x^2} \ln \frac{2x}{x+1} - \frac{2}{1-x^2} \ln \frac{2}{x+1}$$

$$= \frac{2}{1-x^2} \ln x.$$

Integrating the above expression with respect to x gives

$$\mathbf{Li}_{2}\left(\frac{1-x}{1+x}\right) - \mathbf{Li}_{2}\left(-\frac{1-x}{1+x}\right) = \int \frac{2}{1-x^{2}} \ln x dx + C$$
$$= \int \frac{\ln x}{1-x} dx + \int \frac{\ln x}{1+x} dx + C$$

after a partial fraction decomposition has been employed. Here C is an arbitrary constant of integration. Making the change of variable x = 1 - t, we see that the first above integral appearing is

$$\int \frac{\ln x}{1-x} dx = \mathbf{Li}_2 (1-x)$$

integrating by parts followed by a change of variable of x = -t leads to

$$\int \frac{\ln x}{1+x} dx = \ln x \ln (1+x) + \mathbf{Li}_2(-x)$$

then

$$\mathbf{Li}_{2}\left(\frac{1-x}{1+x}\right) - \mathbf{Li}_{2}\left(-\frac{1-x}{1+x}\right) = \mathbf{Li}_{2}\left(1-x\right) + \mathbf{Li}_{2}\left(-x\right) + \ln x \ln\left(1+x\right) + C$$

To find the constant C, we set x = 0, we find then

$$C = -\mathbf{Li}_2\left(-1\right) = \frac{\pi^2}{12}.$$

3.6 Values of
$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln(1-x)\ln^{2}(1+x)}{x} dx$$

In this section we have detailed the proof of the problem 11993 (American Mathematical Monthly, Vol.124, August-September 2017), this problem is proposed by C. I. Vălean (Romania). Solution proposed by Roberto Tauraso, Dipartimento di Matematica, Universit'a di Roma "Tor Vergata", via della Ricerca Scientifica, 00133 Roma, Italy.

Problem 3.6 The following identity holds

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln(1-x)\ln^{2}(1+x)}{x} dx = -\frac{\pi^{4}}{280}$$

Proof. By letting $a = \ln(1-x)$ and $b = \ln(1+x)$ in the following identity

$$6ab^2 = (a+b)^3 + (a-b)^3 - 2a^3,$$

we get

$$I = \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln(1-x)\ln^{2}(1+x)}{x} dx = \frac{I_{1} + I_{2} - 2I_{3}}{6}$$

where

$$I_1 = \int_0^1 \frac{\ln^3(1-x^2)}{x} dx$$
, $I_2 = \int_0^1 \frac{\ln^3\frac{1-x}{1+x}}{x} dx$ and $I_3 = \int_0^1 \frac{\ln^3(1-x)}{x} dx$.

By the substitution $t = 1 - x^2$ and the relation (3.10)

$$I_{1} = \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{3}(1-x^{2})}{x} dx = \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{3}t}{1-t} dt$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{3}(1-x)}{x} dt = -3\xi(4).$$

and by the substitution $(t = \frac{1-x}{1+x}, dt = \frac{-2}{(1+x)^2}, x = \frac{1-t}{1+t})$ and the relations (3.5), (3.10)

$$I_{2} = \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{3} \frac{1-x}{1+x}}{x} dx = 2 \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{3} t}{(1-t)(1+t)} dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{3} t}{1-t} dt + \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{3} t}{1+t} dt = \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{3} (1-t)}{t} dt + \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{3} t}{1+t} dt$$

$$= -6\xi (4) - \frac{21}{4} \zeta (4) = -\frac{45}{4} \zeta (4)$$

finaly

$$I = \frac{I_1 + I_2 - 2I_3}{6} = -\frac{3}{8}\xi(4) = -\frac{1}{240}\pi^4.$$

3.7 Some applications of Logarithmic Integrals

A variety of identities involving harmonic numbers and generalized harmonic numbers have been investigated since the distant past and involved in a wide range of diverse fields such as analysis of algorithms in computer science, various branches of number theory. Here we show how one can obtain certain infinite series involving harmonic numbers.

We have detailed the proof of the problem 11682 (American Mathematical Monthly, Vol.119, December 2012) Proposed by Ovidiu Furdui (Romania).

Problem 3.7 The following identity holds

$$\sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{H_n}{n^2} = 2\xi (3) .$$

Proof. We proceed as follow

$$\sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{H_n}{n^2} = \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{n} \frac{H_n}{n} = -\sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{n} \int_{0}^{1} x^{n-1} \ln(1-x) \, dx$$

by the relations (3.1), (2.9) and (3.8) we have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{H_n}{n^2} = \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{n} \frac{H_n}{n} = -\sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{n} \int_0^1 x^{n-1} \ln(1-x) \, dx$$

$$= -\int_0^1 \ln(1-x) \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{n} x^{n-1} dx$$

$$= -\int_0^1 \frac{\ln(1-x)}{x} \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{x^n}{n} dx$$

$$= \int_0^1 \frac{\ln^2(1-x)}{x} dx$$

$$= 2\xi(3).$$

Problem 3.8 The following identity holds

$$\sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} (-1)^n \left(\sum_{k=1}^{+\infty} \frac{(-1)^{k+1}}{n+k} \right)^2 = \frac{\pi^2}{24}.$$
 (3.12)

Proof. Let

$$S = \sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} (-1)^n \left(\sum_{k=1}^{+\infty} \frac{(-1)^{k+1}}{n+k} \right)^2,$$

And starting again from the representations

$$\frac{1}{n+k} = \int\limits_0^1 x^{n+k-1} dx$$

then

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{k+1}}{n+k} = \int_{0}^{1} x^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (-x)^{k-1} dx = \int_{0}^{1} \frac{x^{n}}{1+x} dx$$

we continue this way

$$S = .\sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} (-1)^n \left(\int_0^1 \frac{x^n}{1+x} dx \right)^2 = \sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} (-1)^n \left(\int_0^1 \frac{x^n}{1+x} dx \right) \left(\int_0^1 \frac{y^n}{1+y} dy \right)$$

$$= \sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} (-1)^n \left(\int_0^1 \int_0^1 \frac{(xy)^n}{(1+x)(1+y)} dx dy \right)$$

$$= \int_0^1 \int_0^1 \left\{ \sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} (-xy)^n \right\} \frac{dx dy}{(1+x)(1+y)}$$

$$= \int_0^1 \int_0^1 \frac{dx dy}{(1+xy)(1+x)(1+y)}$$

Here we set $u = \frac{y}{x}$ to get

$$S = \int_{0}^{1} \left\{ \int_{0}^{x} \frac{1}{(1+u)(u+x)} du \right\} \frac{1}{x+1} dx.$$

Using partial fractions

$$\frac{1}{(1+u)(u+x)} = \frac{1}{x-1} \left(\frac{1}{(u+1)} - \frac{1}{(u+x)} \right)$$

we can evaluate the inside integral. The result is

$$S = \int_{0}^{1} \frac{1}{x^2 - 1} \ln \frac{2}{1 + x} dx.$$

The substitution $(\frac{2}{1+x} = 1+t, x = \frac{1-t}{1+t}, dx = \frac{-2}{(1+t)^2}dt)$ transforms this integral into a more transparent one

$$S = \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln(1+t)}{t} dt.$$

By the relation (3.2) and the following remark

$$S = \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{1} \left\{ \sum_{k=1}^{+\infty} \frac{(-1)^{k-1}}{k} t^{k} \right\} \frac{1}{t} dt = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=1}^{+\infty} \frac{(-1)^{k-1}}{k}.$$

the proof is complete of this problem.

Remark 3.1 The proof of the above problem (3.12) is given in 2022 by K. N. Boyadzhiev (see [8])

3.8 Example and problem

In this section, we solved an example and left one problem unsolved, out of curiosity to look for the solution.

Example 3.1 1-Prove the following equality holds

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln(1-x)\ln(1+x)}{x} dx = -\frac{5}{8}\zeta(3).$$

2- Deduce

$$\sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} (-1)^n \frac{H_n}{n^2} = -\frac{5}{8} \zeta(3).$$

Let

$$I = \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln(1-x)\ln(1+x)}{x} dx.$$

By letting $a = \ln(1-x)$ and $b = \ln(1+x)$ in the following indication

$$4ab = (a+b)^2 - (a-b)^2$$
,

we get

$$I = \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln(1-x)\ln(1+x)}{x} dx = \frac{I_{1} - I_{2}}{4}$$

where

$$I_1 = \int_0^1 \frac{\ln^2(1-x^2)}{x} dx \text{ and } I_2 = \int_0^1 \frac{\ln^2\frac{1-x}{1+x}}{x} dx.$$

by the substitution $t = 1 - x^2$ and the relation (3.8)

$$I_{1} = \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{2}(1-x^{2})}{x} dx = \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{2}t}{1-t} dt$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{2}(1-x)}{x} dt = \xi(3).$$

and by the substitution $(t = \frac{1-x}{1+x}, dt = \frac{-2}{(1+x)^2}, x = \frac{1-t}{1+t})$ and the relations (3.4), (3.8)

$$I_{2} = \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{2} \frac{1-x}{1+x}}{x} dx = 2 \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{2} t}{(1-t)(1+t)} dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{2} t}{1-t} dt + \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{2} t}{1+t} dt = \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{2} (1-t)}{t} dt + \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln^{2} t}{1+t} dt$$

$$= 2\xi(3) + \frac{3}{2}\zeta(3) = \frac{7}{2}\xi(3),$$

then

$$I = \frac{I_1 - I_2}{4} = \frac{\xi(3) - \frac{7}{2}\xi(3)}{4} = -\frac{5}{8}\zeta(3).$$

2- By the relations (3.1), (2.9) and (3.8) we have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} (-1)^n \frac{H_n}{n^2} = \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{(-1)^n}{n} \frac{H_n}{n} = -\sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{(-1)^n}{n} \int_0^1 x^{n-1} \ln(1-x) \, dx$$

$$= -\int_0^1 \ln(1-x) \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{(-1)^n}{n} x^{n-1} dx$$

$$= -\int_0^1 \frac{\ln(1-x)}{x} \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{(-x)^n}{n} dx$$

$$= \int_0^1 \frac{\ln(1-x) \ln(1+x)}{x} dx$$

$$= -\frac{5}{8} \zeta(3).$$

Problem 3.9 1-Prove the following equality holds

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\ln(1-x)\ln(1+x)}{1+x} dx = \frac{1}{24} \left(8\ln^{3} 2 - \pi^{2} \ln 4 + 3\zeta(3) \right).$$

2- Deduce

$$\sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} (-1)^n \frac{H_n^2}{n} = \frac{1}{12} \left(\pi^2 \ln 2 - 4 \ln^3 2 - 9\zeta(3) \right).$$

Conclusion

The main results of last chapter represent an interesting contribution in integral logarithms. They are obtained by using technical operations on binomial coefficients and harmonic numbers.

Even today, the study of the calculation of indefinite integrals concerning logarithms, log-sin integrals or others is an important research topic have been widely studied in many papers.

Many questions arise, how to evaluate the integral or calculate the partial sum of the series such

$$\sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{H_{n,l}^m}{n^s}.$$

Bibliography

- [1] M. Abramowitz and I.A. Stegun, *Handbook of Mathematical Functions: with Formulas, Graphs and Mathematical*, Dover Publications, (1972).
- [2] T. Agoh. On Giuga's conjecture. Manuscripta Math., 87(4), (1995) 501–510.
- [3] G. E. Andrews, R. Askey and R. Roy, *Special Functions*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, (2000).
- [4] R. Apéry, Roger (1979), Irrationalité de ζ (2) et ζ (3), Astérisque, 61(1979)11–13.
- [5] K. N. Boyadzhiev "Solution to Problem 1117" (College Mathematics Journal) March 27, (2018).
- [6] K. N. Boyadzhiev, Harmonic number identities via Euler's transform, J. Integer Sequences, Vol. 12 (2009).
- [7] K. N. Boyadzhiev, A binomial formula for evaluating integrals, Discrete Math. Lett.,10 (2022) 51–55.
- [8] K. N. Boyadzhiev, Special Techniques for Solving Integrals: Examples and Problems, World Scientific, New Jersey, 2022.
- [9] R. Chelel, Autour De Certaines Propriétés Arithmétiques des Nombres De Bernoulli. Mémoire de Magister, USTHB (2012).
- [10] H. B. Dwight, Table of Integrals and Other Mathematical Data, Macmillan, New York, 1934.
- [11] L. Euler, Institutionum Calculi Integralis, vol. 1, Impensis Academiae Imperialis Scientiarum, Petropoli, 1768.
- [12] I. S. Gradshteyn and I. M. Ryzhik, Table of Integrals, Series, and Products, 6th ed., Alan Jeffrey, Editor, Daniel Zwillinger, Associate Editor, 2000.

- [13] G. H. Hardy and E.M. Wright, An introduction to the theory of Numbers, (5th edition, collection "Oxfor Science Publications", Oxfor University Presss, Grande Bretagne, 1979. (first edition :1938).
- [14] H.T. Jin and D.K. Du, Abel's lemma and identities on harmonic numbers, *IN-TEGERS: Electronic journal of combinatorial number theory*, 15, (2015), #A22.
- [15] G. W. Leibniz, Leibnizens mathematische Schriften, in C. I. Gerhardt (ed.), vol. 3, H. W. Schmidt, Halle, 1858.
- [16] L. Lewin, Dilogarithms and associated functions, Macdonald, London, 1958.
- [17] T. Mansour, Gamma function, Beta function and combinatorial identities. math.CO/0104026 2001.
- [18] L. C. Maximon, The dilogarithm function for complex argument, Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A (459) 2039 (2003), 2807–2819.
- [19] R. J. McIntosh, On the converse of Wolstenholmeis theorem, Acta Arith., 71, (1995), 381–389.
- [20] C. Smith and V. E.Hogatt, Generating functions of central values of generalized Pascal triangles, *Fibonacci Quart.*, 17, (1979), 58–67.
- [21] A. C. Novac, A new solution to Basel problem, Ann. Tiberiu Popoviciu Semin. Funct. Equ. Approx. Convexity 15 (2017) 37–40.
- [22] H. M. Srivastava and J. Choi, Series Associated with the Zeta and Related Functions, Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2001.
- [23] H. M. Srivastava and J. Choi, Zeta and q-Zeta Functions and Associated Series and Integrals, Elsevier, 2012.
- [24] W. Spence, An essay on the theory of the various orders of logarithmic transcendents, London and Edinburgh, 1809.
- [25] S. M. Stewart, Some simple proofs of Lima's two-term dilogarithm identity. Ir. Math. Soc. Bull. 89, 43–49 (2022).
- [26] N. Tahmi, L. Elkhiri, A Derbal, Congruences involving the binomial coefficient and some applications MATHEMATICA MONTISNIGRI Vol LV (2022).

- [27] C.I. Vălean, A new proof for a classical quadratic harmonic series, J. Class. Anal. 8 (2) (2016) 155–161.
- [28] A. Zékiri, Propriétés combinatoires de suites polynômiales classiques. Thèse de Doctorat USTHB (2015)
- [29] Henry W. Gould, Series transformations for finding recurrences for sequences, Fibonacci Quarterly, 28(1990), 166-171.